RECEIVED

01-10-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2017AP1739-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TIMOTHY L. LANDRY,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Both Entered in the Kenosha County Circuit Court, the Honorable Chad G. Kerkman, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

HANNAH SCHIEBER JURSS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081221

Office of the State Public Defender 17 S. Fairchild Street, 3rd Floor Madison, WI 53703 (608) 267-1773 jurssh@opd.wi.gov

ISSUE PRESENTED

I. Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion when it ordered Mr. Landry to comply with the sex offender registry without (a) making the statutorily-mandated determinations or (b) explaining its rationale behind those determinations?

The circuit court had discretion to decide whether to require Mr. Landry to comply with the sex offender registry. It ordered him to comply with the registry, and denied his post-conviction motion to vacate that requirement.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Landry does not seek oral argument. Publication may be warranted to address how *Gallion* applies to a circuit court's discretionary determination of whether to require a defendant to comply with the sex-offender registry.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

The State originally charged Mr. Landry with one count of second degree sexual assault (intercourse) and one count of false imprisonment. (1). The Complaint alleged that on one occasion in 2013, Mr. Landry touched and put his finger inside the vagina of his ex-girlfriend (A.D.) without her consent and by use of force. (1).

Mr. Landry ultimately pled no contest to two reduced charges of fourth degree sexual assault in violation of Wisconsin Statute § 940.225(3m), Class A misdemeanors. (30;80). As part of the plea agreement in this case, Mr. Landry also pled no contest to one count of felony bail

jumping (a Class H felony) in violation of Wisconsin Statute § 946.49(1)(b) in Kenosha County Case Number 14-CF-286, and one count of hit and run (an unclassified misdemeanor) in violation of Wisconsin Statute § 346.67(1) in Kenosha County Case Number 13-CT-684. (80).

The State agreed to recommend a maximum period of probation with conditional jail time in an amount up to the court. (80:2-4). The State also requested a pre-sentence investigation report (hereinafter "PSI"). (80:4).

The PSI listed Mr. Landry's prior criminal offenses. None of those offenses involved sexual assault charges. (31:6-10). The only prior charge that appeared to involve any sexual behavior was a 2006 conviction for disorderly conduct and resisting an officer following police finding Mr. Landry having sex in a car in a park after hours. (31:9).

The Department of Corrections recommended three years of probation and a withheld sentence for the sexual assault and bail jumping convictions, and a concurrent period of jail time for the hit-and-run conviction. (31:23).

The PSI-writer concluded that the most significant criminogenic needs Mr. Landry had were his "anger, social adjustment problems and substance abuse." (31:22). Nevertheless, the PSI-writer also recommended that Mr. Landry take part in sex offender treatment and be required to register as a sex offender. (31:22).

The PSI-writer concluded that he should be required to register as a sex offender because he (a) declined to provide his account of what happened with his ex-girlfriend in this case to the PSI-writer and (b) though he did provide written information about his overall sexual history and behavior in paperwork to the PSI-writer, he told the writer he did not wish to discuss it with her because he "did not feel

comfortable talking about sex with a woman". (31:4,17,22). The PSI-writer explained: "His power/control issues, coupled with his denial and refusal to address his sexual behavior only highlight the fact that he is a danger to the community, and at the very least should be required to register with the Sex Offender Registry." (31:22).

Mr. Landry's attorney submitted an alternative PSI, prepared by a clinical forensic counselor and sentencing specialist, who indicated that he did not believe that compliance with the sex offender registry was necessary given that Mr. Landry has no prior history of sexual assault cases. (35:14-15).

At sentencing, the State recommended the maximum allowable period of probation with conditional jail time in an amount left up to the court. (81:8). The State noted that the Department of Corrections was recommending compliance with the sex offender registry, but did not itself take a position on whether Mr. Landry should have to comply. (81:15-16).

Mr. Landry's attorney noted that Mr. Landry's last conviction prior to this case was five years earlier. (81:19). He noted that in the two years since the conduct resulting in the bail jumping conviction in 2014, Mr. Landry had no problems on bond, had been able to get employment as a forklift operator, and had received a promotion at that job. (81:20). He also noted that Mr. Landry had gotten married and was raising three children. (81:20,23).

Defense counsel also recommended probation. (81:21). Defense counsel noted that Mr. Landry indicated that he would be willing to comply with any sex offender treatment imposed by the court. (81:24).

Defense counsel asked the court not to require Mr. Landry to comply with the sex offender registry. (81: 27-28). Counsel argued that given that all parties were recommending probation, that Mr. Landry had no history of sexual assault offenses, and that there would be other protections for A.D. as Mr. Landry would be on supervision, ordering him to comply with the sex offender registry was unnecessary. (81:27-28). "I don't think that Mr. Landry is a risk to be out there committing sexual assaults on other people in the community. There's just no history to suggest that." (81:28).

In imposing sentence, the court noted that Mr. Landry did not have any prior sexual assault convictions but did have the prior incident in 2006 where he was caught having sex in a park and asked law enforcement if they "liked" his penis. (81:30-31;App.108-09). The court also noted that in the bail jumping case, Mr. Landry parked behind A.D. at a gas station and "yelled obscenities at her." (81:31;App.109).

The court concluded that given the two sexual assault counts here and a "number of domestic abuse convictions," Mr. Landry has "some sort of issue with women and with respect in general." (81:31;App.109). It also concluded that Mr. Landry was not taking responsibility for the sexual assault. (81:31;App.109).

Prior to imposing the sentences, the court explained that there would be an "element of punishment in this case." (81:33;App.111). It noted that it would "take into consideration the gravity of the offense, especially in the sexual assault case, and the need to protect the public." (81:33;App.111). It continued: "Evidently women in this community need to be protected from you given your history of domestic violence and the sexual assault that you committed." (81:33;App.111).

The court then imposed sentence: it imposed nine months jail on each of the two sexual assault charges, concurrent with each other. (81:33). It imposed a consecutive period of three years of probation on the bail jumping case, and a \$700 fine for the hit-and-run case. (81:33-34;App.111-12).

After imposing these sentences and ordering Mr. Landry to pay a DNA surcharge, the court ordered Mr. Landry to comply with the sex offender registry: "Given the serious nature of the sexual assault and the effect it's had on Ms. D[], I am ordering you to comply with the Wisconsin Sex Offender Registry." (81:35;App.113).

The court did not offer further explanation at sentencing for its decision requiring Mr. Landry to comply with the sex offender registry. *See generally* (81;App.105-15).

Mr. Landry filed a post-conviction motion asking the court to vacate the requirement that he comply with the sex offender registry. (60). Mr. Landry argued that (a) the court failed to make and explain the requisite findings to impose that requirement and (b) the balance of the factors set forth in the statute for a court to consider when assessing whether imposition of the registry would be in the interest of public protection did not favor imposition of the registry requirement. (60).

The State filed a written response, opposing the postconviction motion, arguing that imposition of the registry requirement was appropriate here. (62).

The circuit court denied Mr. Landry's post-conviction motion following a hearing. (82;64;App.104,116-23). The court did not offer any additional rationale at the post-conviction hearing; rather, it explained that its sentencing

rationale was sufficient. (82:7;App.122). It concluded that it did not erroneously exercise its discretion at sentencing when imposing the sex offender registry requirement. (82:7; App.122).

The court noted that it believed it "made a number of comments at the sentencing to support" its order. (82:7; App.122). It noted that at sentencing it commented that it believed Mr. Landry had an issue with women and respect and that he was not taking responsibility for the sexual assault. (82:7; App.122). It noted that at sentencing it commented that women in the community needed to be protected from Mr. Landry given his history of domestic violence and the sexual assault convictions here. (82:7; App.122). Lastly, it quoted the language it used at sentencing when ordering that Mr. Landry comply with the sex offender registry. (82:7; App.122).

Mr. Landry now appeals.

ARGUMENT

- I. The Circuit Court Erroneously Exercised Its Discretion at Sentencing When It Ordered Mr. Landry to Comply with the Sex-Offender Registry without Making or Explaining the Statutorily-Required Determinations. The Requirements of *Gallion* Should Apply to this Exercise of Discretion.
 - A. For certain statutory offenses, including the offenses to which Mr. Landry pled no contest, a circuit court has discretion at sentencing to require that a defendant comply with the sex-offender registry.

Wisconsin Statute § 973.048 discusses a court's authority at sentencing to require a person to comply with the

sex-offender registry. For certain sex offenses, the statutes mandate compliance with the registry unless the court specifically finds otherwise. Wis. Stat. § 973.048(2m).

For other statutorily-listed offenses—including fourth degree sexual assault under Wisconsin Statute § 940.225(3m)—the statutes explain that a court "may require the person to comply with the reporting requirements" but only if the circuit court makes two findings: "if the court determines that the underlying conduct was sexually motivated, as defined in s. 980.01(5), and that it would be in the interest of public protection to have the person report under s. 301.45." Wis. Stat. § 973.048(1m)(a)(emphasis added).

Conduct is "sexually motivated" when "one of the purposes for [the] act is for the actor's sexual arousal or gratification or for the sexual humiliation or degradation of the victim." Wis. Stat. § 980.01(5).

The statute that gives a court the discretion to require compliance with the registry also lists factors a court may use to determine whether it would be in the interest of public protection to have the person report ("the court may consider any of the following"):

- (a) The ages, at the time of the violation, of the person and the victim of the violation.
- (b) The relationship between the person and the victim of the violation.
- (c) Whether the violation resulted in bodily harm, as defined in s. 939.22(4), to the victim.
- (d) Whether the victim suffered from a mental illness or mental deficiency that rendered him or her temporarily or permanently incapable of understanding or evaluating the consequences of his or her actions.

- (e) The probability that the person will commit other violations in the future.
- (g) Any other factor that the court determines may be relevant to the particular case.

Wis. Stat. § 973.048(3).¹

The sex offender registry statute provides that if a person such as Mr. Landry has been ordered to comply with the sex offender registry, he *must* register as a sex offender until "15 years after discharge from parole, extended supervision, community supervision, or aftercare supervision for the sex offense." Wis. Stat. § 301.45(5)(a)2.²

B. Wisconsin Statute § 973.048(1m)(a) requires a sentencing court to consider specific factors unique to whether sex-offender registry compliance is appropriate. The requirements of *Gallion* should apply to this exercise of discretion.

The plain language of the statute, the requirements of registry compliance, and this Court's related case law, all reflect that a court must conduct an exercise of discretion specific to sex-offender registry compliance—an exercise beyond the standard consideration of sentencing factors applicable in every criminal case—and that *Gallion* should apply to this exercise of discretion.

While deference is given to a circuit court's exercise of its discretion at sentencing, the exercise of discretion "contemplates a process of reasoning which depends on facts in the record or reasonably derived by inference from the

¹ There is no (f) in the statute.

² In limited circumstances for certain offenses or repeat offenders (not at issue here), a court may impose a lifetime registration requirement. See Wis. Stat. § 301.45(5).

record that yield a conclusion based on logic and founded on proper legal standards." *See State v. Delgado*, 223 Wis. 2d 270, 280, 588 N.W.2d 1 (1999).

As such, the record created by the circuit court in exercising this discretion "must reflect the circuit court's reasoned application of the appropriate legal standard to the relevant facts of the case." *See id.* at 281. A circuit court must do more than state "magic words." *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 37, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197.

The plain language of the registry statute demands particular considerations when a court imposes discretionary sex-offender registry compliance. The two statutory determinations are a prerequisite to such a discretionary order. As this Court has explained: "a circuit court may exercise its discretion in ordering sex-offender registration...only if the two statutory criteria are met: (1) the offense must have been sexually motivated, within the meaning Wis. Stat. § 980.01(5); and (2) registration is necessary for protection of the public." *State v. Jackson*, 2012 WI App 76, ¶ 27, 343 Wis. 2d 602, 819 N.W.2d 288 (emphasis added).

Importantly, these two determinations—particularly the latter—are different than the three primary factors a court must always consider when exercising its discretion in imposing sentence: the gravity of the offense, the character of the offender, and the need to protect the public. *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d. 263, 274-76, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971).

The question of whether and how the public is protected by placing a defendant in jail or prison for particular lengths of time is different than the question of whether and how the public is protected by requiring that defendant to register as a sex offender for fifteen years *after* he has completed that sentence.

Indeed, compliance with the registry mandates that a person update the Department of Corrections with any changes to a multitude of personal information including, among other things:

- Address;
- Employer;
- "Information sufficient to identify the person" including weight and hair color;
- "[E]very Internet user name the person uses, and the name and Internet address of every public or private Internet profile the person creates, uses, or maintains".

Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a).

If this information changes, the person must notify the Department of Corrections within ten days. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(4)(a). If the person knowingly fails to do so, and the registration was imposed for a misdemeanor conviction (as it was here), the person may face up to nine months jail for the first failure to update this information; for all subsequent failures, the person may be imprisoned for up to six years. Wis. Stat. §§ 301.45(6)(a), 939.50(3)(h), 973.01(2)(b)8.

Ordering compliance with the registry thus imposes a significant, heavy burden on an individual that lasts far beyond the original sentence and, if not complied with, carries the possibility of additional criminal charges. Given the significance of a court's decision to impose this requirement, and the plain-language of the statute, the requirements of *Gallion* must apply to this important exercise of sentencing discretion.

This Court has extended the rationale of *Gallion* to other components of a court's exercise of discretion at sentencing beyond the sentence itself. This Court recently issued a published decision holding that *Gallion* applies to a court's decision of whether to make a defendant's conviction eligible for expungement. *State v. Helmbrecht*, 2017 WI App 5, 373 Wis. 2d 203, 891 N.W.2d 412.

Wisconsin's expungement statute provides if the person was under twenty-five at the time of the offense and the conviction has a maximum sentence of six years in prison or less, "the court may order at the time of sentencing that the record be expunged upon successful completion of the sentence if the court determines the person will benefit and society will not be harmed by this disposition." Wis. Stat. § 973.015(1m)(a)1 (emphasis added).

The structure and language of the expungement statute thus parallels the structure and language of the sex offender registry statute: if the conviction falls within statutorily-limited parameters (there, age of the offender and maximum prison sentence; here, the statutory offense), the court "may" order it "if the court determines" that "a" and "b" are true (there, (a) the person will benefit and (b) society will not be harmed; here, (a) the conduct was sexually motivated and (b) it would be in the interest of public protection to have the person report). Compare Wis. Stat. § 973.015(1m)(a)1 with Wis. Stat. § 973.048(1m)(a)(emphasis added).

In *Helmbrecht*, the defendant argued that *Gallion* should apply to the statutorily-mandated expungement determinations, and that those criteria require a court to consider "specific factors unique to expungement." 2017 WI App 5, \P 9. This Court concluded that the expungement statute "clearly contemplates the exercise of discretion and puts forth two factors for the sentencing court to utilize in exercising that discretion". *Id.*, \P 11.

This Court held that when assessing whether to grant expungement, "the sentencing court should set forth in the record the facts it considered and the rationale underlying its decision for deciding whether to grant or deny expungement." Id., ¶ 12.

Importantly, this Court held that a sentencing court must do more than repeat the statutorily-mandated determinations:

Thus, in exercising discretion, the sentencing court must do something more than simply state whether a defendant will benefit from expungement and that society will or will not be harmed. We have repeatedly held that the utterance of "magic words" is not the equivalent of providing a logical rationale. Rather, the sentencing record should reflect the process of reasoning articulated in *Gallion*.

Id., ¶ 13.³

Gallion should equally apply when a court decides whether to make a defendant comply with the sex offender registry. If anything, the sex offender registry statute goes even further than the expungement statute, as it specifically lists factors a court may consider to determine whether it is in the interest of public protection to have the person register. Compare Wis. Stat. § 973.015(1m)(a)1 with Wis. Stat. § 973.048(1m)(a). The statutory listing of these factors

³ Prior to the 2014 law-change to the DNA surcharge statute, this Court also held that *Gallion* applied to a court's discretionary decision of whether to impose the DNA surcharge. *State v. Cherry*, 2008 WI App 80, ¶¶ 9-10, 312 Wis. 2d 203, 752 N.W.2d 393 (a court must do something more than "stating that it is imposing the DNA surcharge simply because it can"; it instead must "consider any and all factors to the case before it" and "set forth in the record the factors it considered and the rationale underlying its decision").

further demonstrates that the discretionary imposition of the sex offender registry demands a thorough, separate *Gallion* analysis.

Indeed this Court has already indicated that *Gallion* should apply here: in *State v. Jackson*, when this Court analyzed whether a circuit court erred in concluding that particular conduct was sexually motivated and exercised its discretion to require compliance with the sex offender registry, this Court cited *Gallion* in explaining how it reviewed the circuit court's order. 2012 WI App 76, ¶ 7 (citing *Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 17).⁴

C. The circuit court here erroneously exercised its discretion at sentencing when it ordered Mr. Landry to comply with the sex offender registry without making or explaining the statutorily-required determinations. The court's rationale in denying Mr. Landry's post-conviction motion did not remedy this error.

The court's decision requiring Mr. Landry to comply with the sex offender registry failed to satisfy *Gallion*. The court failed to both (1) make the statutorily-required determinations and (2) explain its rationale for those determinations.

⁴ Mr. Landry also asks this Court to take judicial notice of the State of Wisconsin's Response Brief (filed 4/26/17) in the pending appeal of *State v. Christopher A. Kline*, 2017AP15-CR. Mr. Kline similarly argued that the requirements of *Gallion* should apply to a court's discretionary imposition of compliance with the sex offender registry. The State agreed that *Gallion* should apply to a circuit court's discretionary imposition of the sex offender registry requirement. (Response Brief at 8-10).

Appellate review of a circuit court's sentencing discretion is limited to determining whether the circuit court erroneously exercised that discretion. *State v. Taylor*, 2006 WI 22, ¶ 17, 289 Wis. 2d 34, 710 N.W.2d 466.

As he noted to the circuit court, Mr. Landry does not dispute that the offenses were sexually motivated under the statutory definition. (60:4). But the court still failed to make that specific finding as required by statute. *See generally* (81;App.105-15).

More importantly, the court failed to offer the process of reasoning required by *Gallion* as to the second requisite finding: that it would be in the interest of public protection to require Mr. Landry to comply with the registry.

The court only said that it was imposing the registry "[g]iven the serious nature of the sexual assault and the effect it's had on Ms. D[]." (81:35;App.113). This same explanation could seemingly be given in every sexually-motivated offense. It does not offer a process of reasoning to make clear why the court believed that it would be in the interest of public protection to require Mr. Landry in particular to register as a sex offender for fifteen years after completing his sentences in this case.

Indeed, if the court had offered that same explanation, and only that explanation, as the basis for the jail sentences it imposed, such a limited rationale would not satisfy *Gallion*. It would fail because it alone does not explain how the court got from point A (the serious nature of the assault and its effect on the victim) to point B (nine month jail sentences being the minimum confinement necessary to achieve its objectives). *See Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, \P 44.

It similarly fails as the basis for imposition of the sex offender registry requirement, because it does not make clear how the court got from point A (the serious nature of the assault of his ex-girlfriend and its effects on her) to point B (finding that it is in the interest of public protection to require Mr. Landry—an employed, married man with three children and no prior history of sexual assault; a man who the court ordered to serve jail time here with consecutive probation in the bail jumping case—to register as a sex offender for fifteen years).

Nor does the court's earlier comment that women in the community "[e]vidently" need to be protected from Mr. Landry due to his "history of domestic violence and the sexual assault that [he] committed" satisfy *Gallion* with regard to its imposition of the registry requirement. *See* (81:33;App.111). The court made this comment when explaining its basis for imposing its sentences, not in explaining why the registry requirement would be appropriate. *See* (81:33-36;App.111-14). Where Mr. Landry had no prior sexual assault convictions, and where his sexual assault convictions here involved his ex-girlfriend, the court did not explain how it believed requiring Mr. Landry to register and report as a sex offender for fifteen years would serve to protect the community.

The court also failed to supplement its insufficient rationale post-conviction. Mr. Landry recognizes that a circuit court may further explain its sentencing rationales in addressing a post-conviction motion. See State v. Fuerst, 181 Wis. 2d 903, 915, 512 N.W.2d 243 (Ct. App. 1994). But the court here failed to do so. It only restated the comments it made at sentencing and explained that it believed those comments were sufficient. See (82;App.116-23). The court was incorrect because its rationale failed to satisfy Gallion.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Mr. Landry respectfully requests that this Court reverse the circuit court's order denying his post-conviction motion and remanding this matter with an order that the circuit court exercise its discretion on whether to order compliance with the sex offender registry in the proper manner as prescribed by this Court.