RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-26-2018

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT II

Case No. 2017AP1739-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TIMOTHY L. LANDRY,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR KENOSHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE CHAD G. KERKMAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

AARON R. O'NEIL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041818

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The record supports the circuit court's decision to require Landry to register as a sex offender.

A. The circuit court had the discretion to require Landry to register as a sex offender if it concluded his crimes were sexually motivated and that registration was in the interest of protecting the public.

A circuit court has discretionary authority under Wis. Stat. § 973.048 to order sex-offender registration when a defendant is sentenced for a crime enumerated in that statute. *State v. Martel*, 2003 WI 70, ¶ 16, 262 Wis. 2d 483, 664 N.W.2d 69. Landry was convicted of fourth-degree sexual assault, a crime under chapter 940 and one that allows a court to order registration. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 940.225(3m), 973.048(1m)(a).

To require a defendant to register as a sex offender, the court has to conclude that the defendant's underlying conduct was sexually motivated and that registration would be in the interest of public protection. Wis. Stat. § 973.048(1m). The statute adopts Wis. Stat. § 980.01(5)'s definition of sexually motivated. Under section 980.01(5), an act is sexually motivated if it is done "for the actor's sexual arousal or gratification or for the sexual humiliation or degradation of the victim."

Section 973.048(3) lists illustrative factors for a court to consider when determining whether registration is in the interest of public protection. The enumerated factors are the ages of and relationship between the defendant and the victim, whether the crime caused the victim bodily harm, whether the victim suffered from a mental illness or deficiency, and the defendant's likelihood of committing future violations. Wis. Stat. § 973.048(3)(a)–(e). The court is also allowed to consider any other factor it deems relevant. Wis. Stat. § 973.048(3)(g).

B. The record supports findings that Landry's crimes were sexually motivated and registration was in the interest of public protection.

This Court should affirm the circuit court's decision to require that Landry comply with the sex offender reporting requirements. The court did not explicitly make the specific findings required by Wis. Stat. § 973.048(1m) when it ordered Landry to register. Nonetheless, a review of the record supports the circuit court's decision to require registration.

The record shows that Landry's fourth-degree sexual assault convictions were sexually motivated. There is no other way to view them. By pleading to fourth-degree sexual assault, Landry admitted he had sexual contact with AD without her consent. Wis. Stat. § 940.225(3m). And the complaint, which served as the factual basis for Landry's pleas, shows that Landry's actions were motivated by his desire for sex with AD. (R. 1; 80:8.) Moreover, Landry does not dispute that his offenses were sexually motivated. (Landry's Br. 14.) Thus, this Court should conclude that the record supports a determination that Landry's crimes were sexually motivated.

In addition, the circuit court's sentencing comments support a determination that requiring Landry to register was in the interest of protecting the public. As the circuit court explained postconviction, it made three comments at sentencing that support this finding. See Helmbrecht, 373 Wis. 2d 203, ¶ 13.

First, the court said, based on Landry's criminal history and the severity of his assault of AD, that he had "some sort of issue with women and with respect in general. I don't believe you're taking responsibility for this sexual assault." (R. 81:31.) The court's determinations that Landry has negative attitudes toward women in general and lacked remorse in this case support a conclusion that Landry was likely to commit future sexual violations and thus, registration was necessary to protect the public. *See* Wis. Stat. § 973.048(3)(e).

Second, the court, again relying on Landry's record and the severity of his current assault, said that "[e]vidently women in this community need to be protected from you given your history of domestic violence and the sexual assault that you committed." (R. 81:33.) This too supports a conclusion that Landry might commit future crimes and that registration was necessary to protect the public.

Third, when the court actually imposed the registration requirement, it told Landry it was doing so "[g]iven the serious nature of the sexual assault and the effect it's had on [AD]." (R. 81:35.) The serious nature of the assault is reasonably interpreted as a finding that Landry might commit future crimes. And the nature of the assault and the effects that it had on AD were both appropriate "other factor[s] that the court determines may be relevant to the particular case." Wis. Stat. § 973.048(3)(g).

These three comments from the circuit court all support a conclusion that requiring Landry to register as a sex offender was necessary to protect the public. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion.

C. Landry has not demonstrated that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion.

This Court should also reject Landry's argument that the circuit court erroneously ordered him to register as a sex offender.

Landry argues that State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197, should apply to the circuit court's exercise of discretion to impose sex offender registration. (Landry's Br. 8–13.) Specifically, he contends that specific findings that the crime was sexually motivated and that registration is necessary to protect the public, and the rationales for those findings, must be reflected in the court's sentencing comments. (Landry's Br. 9, 12–13.) In addition, Landry notes that the Wis. Stat. § 973.048(1m) factors are different than the three primary sentencing factors, suggesting that consideration of the latter will not encompass the former. (Landry's Br. 9.) And, he contends, because this Court recently extended Gallion's rationale to a circuit court's expungement decisions, extending Gallion to sex offender registration makes logical sense. (Landry's Br. 11–12.) See Helmbrecht, 373 Wis. 2d 203, ¶ 13.

This Court should decline to address these arguments because they are forfeited. Issues not presented to the circuit court will not be considered on appeal. *State v. Caban*, 210 Wis. 2d 597, 604, 563 N.W.2d 501 (1997). Landry never argued in circuit court that *Gallion* should apply to the court's discretionary registration determination. (R. 60; 82.) Instead, Landry argued only that the court erred by ordering registration. (R. 60:4–12; 82:2–5.) His *Gallion* argument is thus forfeited.

Moreover, even assuming Gallion applies, the circuit court's decision did not violate it. Landry contends that Gallion required the circuit court to specifically articulate why it concluded that each of the two requirements in Wis. Stat. § 973.048 were met. (Landry's Br. 8–13.) But Gallion does not force the court to recite "magic words." Gallion, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 49. A sentencing court does not need to address all the sentencing factors on the record. State v. Echols, 175 Wis. 2d 653, 683, 499 N.W.2d 631 (1993). The court's obligation to state its reasons for its sentence "does not require that the sentencing court enumerate all of the factors that might have been considered in reaching the decision." State v. Grady, 2007 WI 81, ¶ 41, 302 Wis. 2d 80, 734 N.W. 2d 364. And Gallion did not abrogate the independent appellate review doctrine, which says that "[ilf the facts are fairly inferable from the record, and the reasons indicate the consideration of legally relevant factors, the sentence should ordinarily be affirmed." Id. ¶ 33 (quoting McCleary, 49 Wis. 2d at 281); Gallion, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 18 n.6.

Thus, none of Landry's complaints about the circuit court's ordering him to register as a sex offender require reversal. The court did not need to specifically say it was finding that Landry's conduct was sexually motivated and that registration was needed to protect the public. It is enough that the court's sentencing comments and the rest of the record support those conclusions. And while Landry is correct that the regular sentencing factors are not the same as those for registration, there is significant overlap. Both

¹ The State acknowledges that it has admitted in *State v. Kline*, No. 2017AP15-CR (Wis. Ct. App., Dist. II), that *Gallion* applies to the circuit court's decision to order discretionary sex offender registration. (Landry's Br. 13 n.4.)

sentencing and registration take protecting the public into account. And it certainly was not inappropriate for the court to consider the severity of Landry's assaults when deciding that he should register. The circuit court did not violate *Gallion*.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the circuit court's judgment of conviction and order denying Landry's motion for postconviction relief.